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Oak Hill is a distinctive one-story ante-bellum plantation house
located on the north bank of the Appomattox River, overlooking downtown
Petersburg. Nearly all of the surrounding farmlands have been developed
for housing, but the house's situation above the wooded river bank and at the
end of a street helps preserve a suggestion of the former rural setting.

The house avpears to have been erected in 1825 since the Chester-
field County tax records for that year show a doubling of the evaluation of
the property as a result of improvements. From a series of Mutual Assurance
Society policies it is known that as late as 1821 two separate houses, one of
brick and one of stone, stood within a hundred feet of one another in the
vicinity of the present house. The two houses were erected several decades
earlier and precisely what happened to them is uncertain. The octagonal
west wing of the present house probably was built on the site of the brick
house since in its basement are sections of brick foundation walls laid in
Flemish bond and topped with beveled water table bricks. Except for obvious
later additions the present house seems to have been erected at one time with
a plan of an irregular H. Other than the early foundations already mentione
no fabric, interior or exterior, looks as if it might date prior to 1824,

The most distinctive element of the house is the elongated octagon
wing at the west end. This wing forms the main entrance to the house and
incorporates a central hall with formal reception rooms on either side. It
is connected to the rest of the house by a large single room (probably
originally used as a dining room) with narrow passageways through the house
at either end. This central room originally had galleries on its north and
south sides, but the north gallery has been removed for later additions.
Most of the south gallery is intact, and it is composed of slender columms
set on tall pedestals supporting a somewhat deep entablature. Between the
columns is a simple handrail with square balusters. To the east of the
passageway at the east end of the central rvoom is a series of three bedrooms
forming the opposite arm of the H. This wing has one interior chimney and
one exterior-end chimney. The octagonal wing, on the other hand, has two
exterior chimneys on the wall cpposite the facade.

The house's several additions compromise the original H plan, but
detract little from the building's general character. These additions
include a bath and laundry wing on the east wall of the east wing, and a bath
room in the southeast corner of the south gallery. A series of additions
have been placed on the north side, between the east and west wings. These
additions incorporate a modern kitchen, passageways and a deep side porch.

Oak Hill has handsome but restrained detailing both inside and out;
The main entrance is emphasized by a frontispiece featuring sidelights and
elliptical transom, Accenting the transom is symmetrically molded trim with
a bead molding. At the top of the arch are superimposed molded keystones,
Elliptical transoms are also employed above the doors at either end of the
two cross-passages and above the door at the east end of the front hall.
The entrance is sheltered by a plain porch with square columns which probably
replaces an earlier one having slender columns similar to those on the south
gallery. Beaded siding is used throughout the house except under the south
gallery where flush boarding is employed. Triple-hung sash light the
octagonal wing. Double-hung sash is used in the rest of the house. The house
is covered by shallow hipped roofs sheathed with standing-seam sheet metal.
Around the eaves is a simple molded cornice. (See continuvation sheet)
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The house's original interior woodwork is largely intact,
Symmetrical trim with turned corner blocks frames most of the windows and
doors. The trim in the south parlor of the octagonal wing is enriched with
bead moldings. The south parlor also features a mid-nineteenth-century white
marble mantel with arched opening. The mantel in the corresponding room to
the north is a Greek Revival type of gold-veined black marble, The cornices
in the two principal rooms and hall are composed of simple Greek Revival
moldings. The trim in the central room and bedrooms is similar to that in
the octagonal wing, but more simple. The house is well-maintained and in a
good state of preservation.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Oak Hill is an architecturally distinctive H-shaped plantation
house erected in the years 1825-26. Of particular interest is its octa-
gonal front wing which shows a sophisticated handling of early-nineteenth-
century forms and details, both inside and out. The inspiration for a
house of this type apparently came from Violet Bank, a plantation house
with a similar one-story octagonal front section, erected a decade earlier
about a mile to the east. Together, these two houses form an intriguing
architectural ancmaly; their ultimate inspiration is yet to be determined.
No architect has been associated with Oak Hill, but its careful proportions
and handsome detailing probably can be attributed to master carpenters
from Petersburg who were building fine townhouses in this period just acrosg
the river. ‘

The land on which Qak Hill was built has a complicated history of
changing names, ownership, and structures. The north side of the Appomattd
in this stretch was orginally called Archer's Hill after George Archer I
who in the late-seventeenth century owned most of the land across from what
was te be Petersburg. Archer's holdings also included what later was to
be Violet Bank. In 1777 a 280 acre section of Archer's Hill was sold by a
John Martin to Jerman Baker, a noted lawyer and orator of his day.  Another
section previously had been 6old by Martin to Thomas Shore who established
it as Violet Bank plantation. In 1799 the Baker section was acquired by
Robert Watkins who in 1803 sold it and an additional several hundred acres
to Hector McNeillof Dinwiddie County. An 1803 policy of the Mutual
Assurance Society shows two houses owned by Hector McNeill at Archer's Hill
standing 100 feet apart. The houses were similar in size and proportion,
although one was brick and the other frame. It is not known when and by
whom they were erected, nor why they should have been so close together.
Earlier references to houses at Archer's Hill exist, but the 1803 policies
are the earliest with any kind of detailed description. Neither of the
two houses bear any resemblance to the existing house.

In 1824, 21 acres of Hector McNeill's estate (including the two
houses) were acquired by Thomas Dunn, and it was during his ownership that
that section of the riverbank came to be called Dunn's Hill. The several
Mutual Assurance Policies taken out by Hector McNeill between 1803 and 1821
all refer to his land as Archer's Hill, although it has sometimes been
called Hector's Hill. The Chesterfield County land tax books show that in

which indicates the erection of a new house. This date is consistent with

1826 Dunn's tract doubled in assessed improvement from $3,000.00 to $6,000.C

the architectural style and detailing of the present house. What happened




!:orlm 12-63900:: UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT QF THE INTERIOR STATE
(July } NATIONAL PARK SERVICE VIRGINIA
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |counTY
R COLONTAL HEIGHTS (city
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM FOR NPS USE ONLY
{Continuation Sheet) ENTRY mumee oATe

(Number all antriea)

8.
to the two earlier houses is not known, but Dunn apparently had his new
house built on the site of the brick house since in the basement are founda-
tion.walls for an eighteenth or early-nineteenth-century brick structure.
Thomas Dunn died in 1826, and the property was left to his
wife, Martha and later to his brother Robert, Robert Dunn's son, Thomas II,
inherited title to the property under the provisions of his uncle's will and
gained the use of it when he reached twenty-one. In his will Robert Dunn
referred to the property as Oak Hill; the name has persisted to the present.
Although the present Oak Hill house was not standing at the
time, its location has Revolutionary War associations. In 1781, Lafayette
and his Colonial troops, retreating from Petersburg, occupied the heights

overlooking Petersburg. . This incident provided the source of the name
"Colonial Heights" for the neighborhood that grew up when the Oak Hill tract
was subdivided in 1906. Tradition has it that Lafayette's gun emplacements

are marked by an ancient row of boxwood in the yard of Oak Hill.
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